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April 15, 1991

U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
ATTN: Document Control Desk
Washington, D.C. 20555

Subject: Waterford 3 SES
Docket No. 50-382
License No. NPF-38
NRC Inspection Report 90-26
NRC Enforcement Action 91-006
Reply to Notice of Violation and
Proposed Imposition of Civil Penalty

Gentlemen:

In accordance with 10CFR2.201, Entergy Operations, Inc. hereby submits in
Attachment 1 the response to the Notice of Violation and Proposed Imposition of
Civil Penalty of the subject Enforcement Action.

If you have any questions concerning this response, please contact
T.W. Gates at (504) 739-6697.

Very truly yours,
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ce: Messrs., R.D. Martin, NRC Region IV
D.L. Wigginton, NRC-NRR
L.R. Wharton, NRC-NRR
E.L. Blake
R.B. McGehee
N.S. Reynolds

~ NRC Resident Inspectors Office
" /
'AC'A 1’X‘;b,\
3 L‘HD 41 E, A
v - sy oy e o ()415 7/
”'t n” v Q 04"“()‘(;)'(;, > 4 - 3 e ] O /
ICK 0%000382 Vany,
v * EIR ADOI EDR ,/\L | |



Attachment to
W3F1-91-0050
Page 1 of 13

ATTACHMENT 1

OPERATIONS, INC. RESPONSE TO THE VIOLATIONS IDENTIFIED IN

ENTERGY
ENFORCEMENT ACTION 91-006

VIOLATION 1.A.

Inadequate Surveillance Procedure

10 CFR Part 50, Appendix B, Criterion V, requires in part that activities
affectin{ quality shall be prescribed by documenting instructions or procedures
appropmate to the circumstances, which shall include appropriate acceptance
eriteria for determining that important activities have been satisfactorily

accomplished.

FSAR Section 6.4.4.1 and Table 6.4+2 establish the design basis criteria for 200
ofm as the maximum emergency outside air makeup flow rate.

Contrary to the above, as of December 4, 1990, Surveillance Procedure PE-5-004,
"Control Room Air Conditioning System Surveillance," did not include 200 cfm
maximum emergency makeup air flow rate specifically as a test acceptance
criterion.

VIOLATION I.B.

Lack of Timely Corrective Action

10CFR Part 0, Appendix B, Criteriun V, requires in part that activities
affecting quality shall be prescribed by documenting instructicns or procedures
appropriate to the circumstances, which shall include appropriate acceptance
eriteria for determining that important activities have been satisfactorily
accomplished.

10 CFR Part 50, Appendix B, Criterion XVI, requires in part that measures shall
be established to assure that conditions adverse to quality, such as failures,
malfunctions, deficiencies, deviations, defective material and equipment, and
nonconformances are promptly identified and corrected,

Surveillance Procedure PE-5-004, "Control Room Air Conditioning System
Surveillance," provides instructions for the performance of CRAC surveillance
testing. Section 8.5.4 requires, in part, that corrective actions be taken and
retesting be conducted as necessary "if the requirement Control Room pressure
cannot be obtained and/or Emergency Outside air flow exceeds 200 cfm..."

Contrary to the above, from September 1988 until December 14, 1990, waterford 3
was aware that the required positive control room pressure (1/8 inch water
gauge) could be achieved and maintained only with an emergency outside air flow
rate in excess of 200 cubic feet per minute (¢fm), however, this condition adverse
to quality was not corrected until December 14, 1990.
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RESPONSE

(1) Event Summary

The Control Room envelope is designed to maintain a positive pressure
differential of 0.125" water gauge (w.g.) or greater relative to the outside
air, with a makeup rate of 200 cubic feet per minute (cfm) or less during &
high radiation operating condition. The pressure and airflow limits are also
used to verify the leak tightness of the Control Room envelope in a toxic
gas operating condition, during which the system is in full recirculation
with no outside air makeup. These parameters are mentioned in the Final
Safety Analysis Report (FSAR) and Regulatory Guides 1.78 and 1.95, but
the Technical Specifications (TS) require only that the Control Room be
pressurized to 0.125" w.g. or greater, without requiring any specific
makeup airflow,

Surveillance Procedure PE-5-004, "Control Room Air Conditioning Systems
Surveillance," is performed every 18 months as required by the FSAR and
TS to ensure system operability. Section 8.5 of PE-§5-004 requires the
certification of the Control Room differential pressure relative to the
outside air under the initial test condition of the ventilation lineup in the
high radiation mode with one of the emergency intakes open. Surveillance
Procedure PE-5-004 Section 8.5.4 requires that in the event that 0,125"
w.g. Control Room differential pressure cannot be obtained and/or the
emergency outside air flow exceeds 200 ¢fm then:

- Inspect the Control room areas for leakage and correct
accordingly. Retest as necessary.

- Verify actual emergency outside air flow by performing a duct
traverse.

- Repeat the above steps as necessary.

On three separate occasions, Surveillance Procedure PE-5-004 was
performed in which the Control Room differential pressure was greater than
| 0.125" w.g.; however, this pressure could only be achieved at an
| emergency outside air flow rate in excess of 250 cfm. If PE-5-004 was
| followed as stated above, the procedure could not be exited without meeting
| the requirements of the Control Room differential pressure being greater
| than 0.125" w.g. relative to the outside air and the emergency outside air
flow for the intake being less than or equal to 200 cfm.
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VIOLATION 11

Failure to Enter Technical Specification 3.0,

The Limiting Condition for Operation (LCO) for Tecunical Specification (TS)
3,7.6 requires that two independent Control Room Air Conditioning (CRAC)
systems shall be operable for all modes of plant operation. The Action Statement
requires that with one CRAC system inoperable, restore the inoperable system to
operable status within 7 days or be in at least HOT STANDBY within the next 6
hours and in COLD SHUTDOWN within the following 30 hours. The Action
Statement does not address two trains being inoperable,

T$ Surveillance Requirement 4.7.6,€.3 states, in part, that each control room alr
conditioning system shall be demonstrated operable at least once per 18 months by
verifying that the system maintains the control room at a positive pressure of
greater than or equal to 1/8" water gauge (w.g.). TS 3.0.3 requires that when
an LCO is not met, except as provided in the associated ACTION requirements,
action shall be initiated within 1 hour to place the unit in hot standby within the
next 8 hours, hot shutdown within the following 6 hours, and cold shutdown
within the subsequent 24 hours.

Contrary to the above, from December 3, 1990, through December 12, 1980, the
plant was operated with both CRAC systems incapable of pressurizing the control
room to 1/8" w.g., as a result of inadequate control over fire/air seal work
activities when a fire/air seal was removed, and action was not initiated as
required.

RESIPONSE

(1) Event Summary

On December 12, 1990, engineers discovered fire seal VIA0070 had been
removed from around Fire Damper, FD=45, in accordance with Design
Change, DC=3197, and as a result, a breach in the Control Room envelope
existed. At 1045 hours on December 12, 1990, Technical Specification (TS)
3.0.3 was entered based on engineering judgement that the Control Room
envelope could not obtain a 0.125" w.g. differential pressure with the
outside air in accordance with Surveillance Test Procedure PE-5-004,
"Control Room Air conditioning System Surveillance." In addition, the
consequences of a high radiation or toxic gas scenario would have been
considerably worse in the condition of seal VIA0070 being removed.

DC-3197 was approved for construction on Septemhber 24, 1990, and did not
identify certain fire seals as also being an air pressure barrier for the
Control Room envelope with the Reactor Auxiliary Building (RAB). The
scope of this DC addressed a problem in which fire dampers were found to
be inoperable due to the absence of an expansion space between the fire
damper and the surrounding wall. This expansion space is required to
allow for thermal expansion of the damper assembly under fire conditions.
The fire seal around FD=45 (penetration number VIA0070) was removed on
December 5, 1990,






















